
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

GLOBAL PATENT HOLDINGS, LLC )  
 )  
 Plaintiff, )  
 ) Civil Action No. 00 C 4623 
 v. )  
 )  
GREEN BAY PACKERS, INC. ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
NAPLETON ELMHURST IMPORTS )  
INC. D/B/A ED NAPLETON ACURA, )  
ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC., ) Honorable Charles P. Kocoras 
PEAPOD, LLC, OFFICEMAX INC. ) Mag.-Judge Geraldine Brown 
CATERPILLAR INC. and )  
KRAFT FOODS INC., )  
 )  
 Defendants.   
 

ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.’S ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES, 
COUNTERCLAIM AND DEMAND FOR JURY 

Defendant Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. (“Orbitz”), by and through its attorneys Katten 

Muchin Rosenman LLP, hereby submits its Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim to 

Global Patent Holdings, LLC’s (“GPH”) Amended Complaint, and states as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. Global Patent Holdings, LLC is a Delaware limited liability 
company with offices at 500 Skokie Blvd. #350, Northbrook, Illinois 60062. It 
owns the full and exclusive right, title and interest in United States Patent No. 
5,253,341 C1 entitled “Remote Query Communication System” issued October 
12, 1993 (hereafter “the ‘341 patent”). After a seven year reexamination involving 
numerous additional prior art, the reexamination certificate confirming the 
validity of the ‘341 patent issued on July 24, 2007 (Exhibit A). 

 
Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 1, and, therefore, denies the same. 

2. Green Bay Packers, Inc. (“the Packers”) is a Wisconsin 
corporation with offices at 1265 Lombardi Avenue, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304. 
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Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 2, and, therefore, denies the same. 

3. Ed Napleton Elmhurst Imports, Inc. d/b/a Ed Napleton Acura 
(“Napleton”) is an Illinois corporation with offices at 745 West Lake Street, 
Elmhurst, Illinois 60559. 

 
Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 3, and, therefore, denies the same. 

4. Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. (“Orbitz”) is a Delaware corporation that 
has its principal offices at 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1000, Chicago, Illinois 
60661. 

 
Answer: Orbitz admits the allegations of paragraph 4. 

5. Peapod, LLC (“Peapod”) is a Delaware corporation that has its 
principal offices at 9933 Woods Drive, Skokie, Illinois 60077. 

 
Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 5, and, therefore, denies the same. 

6. OfficeMax Inc. (“OfficeMax”) is a Delaware corporation that has 
its principal offices at 263 Shuman Boulevard, Naperville, Illinois 60563. 

 
Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 6, and, therefore, denies the same. 

7. Caterpillar Inc. (“Caterpillar”) is a Delaware corporation that has 
its principal offices at 100 North East Adams Street, Peoria, Illinois 61629. 

 
Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 7, and, therefore, denies the same. 

8. Kraft Foods Inc. (“Kraft”) is a Virginia corporation that has its 
principal offices at Three Lakes Drive, Northfield, Illinois 60093. 

 
Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 8, and, therefore, denies the same. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This is a claim for patent infringement arising under the patent 
laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 271. This Court has exclusive jurisdiction 
over the subject matter of this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a). 

 
Answer: Orbitz admits that Global Patent Holdings, LLC (“GPH” or “Plaintiff”) alleges 

that this action arises under the patent laws of the United States, Title 35 of the United States 

Code.  Orbitz denies that Plaintiff states a claim for which relief can be granted arising under 

Title 35 of the United States Code.  Orbitz admits that subject matter jurisdiction exists under 28 

U.S.C. § 1338(a). 

10. Defendants transact business in this judicial district by advertising, 
promoting, offering to sell and selling products and services to customers located 
in this judicial district and by conducting other business within this judicial 
district and elsewhere in the United States. 

 
Answer: Orbitz admits that, as these allegations relate to Orbitz, Orbitz advertises, 

promotes, and provides services to customers located in this judicial district and elsewhere in the 

United States.  Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 10 as these allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, 

therefore, denies the same.  Otherwise denied. 

11. Venue is, therefore, proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 
1391(c) and 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b). 

 
Answer: Orbitz admits that, as this allegation relates to Orbitz, venue exists in the Court.  

Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations 

of paragraph 11 as these allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, therefore, denies 

the same.   

PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

12. As set forth above, GPH owns and has standing to sue for 
infringement of United States Patent No. 5,253,341 C1. 
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Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 12, and, therefore, denies the same.   

13. Defendants have each infringed claim 17 of the ‘341 patent by 
downloading responsive data, including audio/visual and graphical presentations, 
such as JPEG images and/or other compressed data, on their web sites, whose 
home pages are all located on the Internet. The accused downloading utilizes a 
system employing both a server and an end user station, which have asymmetric 
processing power capacities. The accused method further involves compression 
and inverse decompression techniques (including rendering JPEG images) which 
require less processing power for decompression and are thus asymmetric. 

Answer: As these allegations relate to Orbitz, Orbitz denies that it has infringed claim 17 

of the ‘341 patent by downloading responsive data, including audio/visual and graphical 

presentations, such as JPEG images and/or other compressed data, on its web site, which home 

page is located on the Internet.  Orbitz admits that GPH alleges that the accused downloading 

utilizes a system employing both a server and an end user station, which have asymmetric 

processing power capacities, and Orbitz admits that GPH alleges that the accused method further 

involves compression and inverse decompression techniques (including rendering JPEG images) 

which require less processing power for decompression and are thus asymmetric.  Orbitz lacks 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations of 

paragraph 13 as these allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, therefore, denies the 

same.  Otherwise denied. 

14. Defendants have knowingly and intentionally induced others to 
infringe (such as their web site users in this judicial district and throughout the 
United States) by willfully and intentionally aiding, assisting and encouraging 
their infringement within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

Answer: As these allegations relate to Orbitz, denied.  Orbitz lacks knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations of paragraph 14 as these 

allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, therefore, denies the same.   
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15. Defendants have also knowingly contributed to others’ 
infringement within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

Answer: As these allegations relate to Orbitz, denied.  Orbitz lacks knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations of paragraph 15 as these 

allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, therefore, denies the same.   

16. GPH has complied with 35 U.S.C. § 287. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 16, and, therefore, denies the same.   

17. The Packers (like every other National Football League team) own 
and operate a web site that is used to transmit information concerning its football 
team over the Internet. The Packers do business in this district through the web 
site www.packers.com.  The Packers also do business in Illinois on a systematic 
basis by participating in at least one football contest against the Chicago Bears 
every year. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 17, and, therefore, denies the same.   

18. Napleton is a car dealer located in this district and, like other car 
dealers, owns and operates various websites for the purpose of promoting, 
advertising, offering to sell and selling cars and other types of vehicles over the 
Internet. Napleton’s websites include, inter alia, www.ednapletonacura.com. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 18, and, therefore, denies the same.   

19. Orbitz owns and operates a web site, www.orbitz.com, for the 
purpose of promoting, advertising, offering to sell and selling its online travel 
services in this district and elsewhere in the United States. These travel services 
include providing a wide selection of low airfares, hotel rates, car rental rates and 
other travel-related deals at a single website. 

Answer: Orbitz admits that its subsidiary, Orbitz, LLC, owns and operates a web site, 

www.orbitz.com, for the purpose of facilitating online travel reservations in this district and 

elsewhere in the United States.  Orbitz admits that Orbitz, LLC facilitates reservations for a wide 
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selection of low airfares, hotel rates, car rental rates and other travel-related deals at a single 

website.  Otherwise denied.     

20. Peapod owns and operates a website, www.peapod.com, for the 
purpose of promoting, advertising, offering to sell and selling its interactive 
grocery shopping services in this district and elsewhere in the United States. 
These services include online grocery shopping and home delivery. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 20, and, therefore, denies the same.   

21. OfficeMax owns and operates a website, www.officemax.com, for 
the purpose of promoting, advertising, offering to sell and selling its office 
products and business services in this district and elsewhere in the United States. 
OfficeMax also does business in this district and elsewhere in the United States 
through numerous retail stores, which also offer its office products and business 
services. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 21, and, therefore, denies the same.   

22. Caterpillar owns and operates a website, www.cat.com, for the 
purpose of promoting and advertising its machinery, engines and financial 
products in this district and elsewhere in the United States. Caterpillar owns and 
operates a second website, www.shopcaterpillar.com, for the purpose of 
promoting, advertising, offering to sell and selling its line of apparel and 
promotional products in this district and elsewhere in the United States. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 22, and, therefore, denies the same.   

23. Kraft owns and operates a website, www.kraft.com, for the 
purpose of promoting and advertising its packaged foods and beverages in this 
district and elsewhere in the United States. Kraft products are sold in this district 
and elsewhere in the United States through local and national supermarket chains. 

Answer: Orbitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of 

the allegations of paragraph 23, and, therefore, denies the same.   

24. Defendants’ infringement has injured GPH and it is entitled to 
recover damages, under the law, adequate to compensate it for the infringement 
that has occurred, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty. 
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Answer: As these allegations relate to Orbitz, denied.  Orbitz lacks knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations of paragraph 24 as these 

allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, therefore, denies the same.   

25. The infringement by the defendants has injured and will continue 
to injure GPH, unless and until such infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

Answer: As these allegations relate to Orbitz, denied.  Orbitz lacks knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations of paragraph 25 as these 

allegations relate to the other named defendants, and, therefore, denies the same.   

Affirmative Defenses 
First Affirmative Defense 

26. The Amended Complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action 

and fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. 

Second Affirmative Defense 
 

27. Claim 17 of the ‘341 patent is invalid for failure to comply with one or more of 

the requirements of Title 35 of the United States Code, including 35 U.S.C. §§ 101, 102, 103 and 

112, and/or one or more of the requirements of Title 37 of the Code of Federal Regulations, 

including 37 C.F.R. §§1.1 et seq. 

Third Affirmative Defense 
 

28. Orbitz is not infringing, and has not infringed, directly, by inducement, 

contributorily, or in any way, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, claim 17 of the 

‘341 patent. 

Fourth Affirmative Defense 

29. GPH is not entitled to damages before the filing of the Amended Complaint due 

to failure to comply with the marking requirements of 35 U.S.C § 287. 
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Fifth Affirmative Defense 

30. GPH’s claim for relief against Orbitz is barred by the doctrine of intervening 

rights, both absolute and equitable, under 35 U.S.C. §§ 307 and 252. 

Sixth Affirmative Defense 

31. GPH’s claim for relief against Orbitz is barred by the doctrine of laches, equitable 

estoppel, acquiescence and/or waiver. 

 
32. Orbitz reserves the right to amend its Answer and/or Affirmative Defenses and/or 

the following Counterclaim to assert further defenses or claims based on discovery or other 

knowledge acquired in the lawsuit. 

ORBITZ’S COUNTERCLAIM AGAINST GPH 

As for its counterclaim against GPH, Orbitz avers: 

33. Orbitz is a Delaware corporation that has its principal offices at 500 West 

Madison Street, Suite 1000, Chicago, Illinois 60661. 

34. On information and belief (and according to paragraph 1 of GPH’s Amended 

Complaint), GPH is a Delaware limited liability company with offices at 500 Skokie Blvd. #350, 

Northbrook, Illinois 60062. 

35. This is a claim for declaratory judgment arising under the Federal Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 et seq.   

36. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331, 1338(a), 2201 and 2202. 
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37. GPH is subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicial district at least because it 

has availed itself of the benefit of the Court for the present action. 

38. Venue for this counterclaim is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1391 and 1400(b). 

39. Claim 17 of the ‘341 patent recites five steps (a) – (e). 

40. The Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences (“BPAI”) found that step (e) is a 

“step” of the method recited in application claim 101 (that issued as claim 17 of the ‘341 patent).  

See, e.g., the BPAI’s December 26, 2006 Decision on Appeal (“Decision”) at p. 63. 

41. According to paragraph 13 of the Amended Complaint, “[t]he accused 

downloading utilizes a system employing both a server and an end user station, which have 

asymmetric processing power capacities. The accused method further involves compression and 

inverse decompression techniques (including rendering JPEG images) which require less 

processing power for decompression and are thus asymmetric.” 

42. On information and belief, the “server” referred to in paragraph 13 of the 

Amended Complaint refers to a server under the possession, custody or control of Orbitz. 

43. On information and belief, the “end user station” referred to in paragraph 13 of 

the Amended Complaint refers to end user stations not under the possession, custody or control 

of Orbitz. 

44. Steps (a) – (d) of claim 17 of the ‘341 patent are performed, if at all, by one or 

more parties other than Orbitz. 
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45. Step (e) of claim 17 of the ‘341 patent recites, in part, “wherein said compressed 

or non-compressed response is compressed prior to receipt at said remote query and data 

retrieval means . . .” 

46. On information and belief, in this litigation GPH alleges that Orbitz performs the 

portion of step (e) quoted in paragraph 43 above, which portion is not performed by the end user. 

47. Orbitz has not controlled or directed anyone to perform each step of claim 17 of 

the ‘341 patent. 

48. For method patent claims, direct infringement occurs when a party performs all of 

the steps of the claimed method.  No one party has performed all of the steps of claim 17 of the 

‘341 patent.  No one party has directly infringed claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 

49. Orbitz has not directly infringed claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 

50. Indirect infringement of method claim 17 of the ‘341 patent requires, as a 

predicate, a finding that method claim 17 has been directly infringed. 

51. No single party has performed the entire method claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 

patent. 

52.  Orbitz has not indirectly infringed claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 

53. GPH has alleged in paragraph 15 of the Amended Complaint that Orbitz 

knowingly contributed to others’ infringement within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

54. Orbitz does not offer to sell or sell within the United States or import into the 

United States a material or apparatus, that does not also have substantial noninfringing uses, for 

use in practicing claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 
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55. The BPAI found that the preamble, steps (a) – (d), and the first “wherein” clause 

of step (e) of claim 17 read on the disclosures in U.S. Patent No. 4,506,387 to Walter (“the 

Walter patent”). 

56. The BPAI found that the preamble, steps (a) – (d), and the first “wherein” clause 

of step (e) of claim 17 read on the disclosures in U.S. Patent No. 5,014,125 to Pocock (“the 

Pocock patent”). 

57. The second “wherein” clause of step (e) of claim 17 recites, “wherein said 

compressed response is decompressed at said remote query and data retrieval means using an 

asymmetric decompression technique corresponding to an inverse operation of the technique 

used to compress said compressed or non-compressed response.” 

58. Compression is either symmetric or asymmetric. 

59. Fractal compression/decompression is an example of an asymmetric system. 

60. Fractal compression/decompression existed more than one year before March 4, 

1991. 

61. The fractal compression/decompression techniques developed by Iterated Systems 

comprise probably the single best known asymmetric algorithm in all of computer graphics at the 

time of the ‘341 patent application.   

62. The fact that fractal compression/decompression is asymmetric is so well known 

that, even at the time of the ‘341 patent application, practitioners did not feel the need to point 

out that it specifically, by name, was asymmetric. 

63. Asymmetry remains a salient factor of fractal compression/decompression.   
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64. U.S. Patent No. 5,065,447 to Barnsley et al. (“the Barnsley patent”) was filed on 

July 5, 1989 and issued on November 12, 1991.   

65. The Barnsley patent indicates that it is assigned to Iterated Systems, Inc.   

66. The Barnsley patent identifies “[e]xamples of current needs for effective 

compression.”  Col. 2, ln. 6. 

67. The Barnsley patent identifies the transmission of medical images by telephone as 

one example of needs for effective compression as of  July 5, 1989.  This includes high 

resolution medical X-rays and CAT-scans.  Col. 2, lns. 8-13.  

68. The Barnsley patent identifies sending video data from computer to computer by 

telephone as another example of needs for effective compression as of  July 5, 1989.  Col. 2, lns. 

14-25. 

69. The Barnsley patent identifies video transmission with the goal of allowing 

consumers to access movies on demand as another example of needs for effective compression 

as of  July 5, 1989.  Col. 2, lns. 26-30. 

70. The Barnsley patent identifies transmission of the additional image data required 

for High Definition Television (HDTV) via existing communication bands as another example of 

needs for effective compression as of  July 5, 1989.  Col. 2, lns. 31-44. 

71. The Barnsley patent identifies Digital Video Interaction (DVI) type applications, 

whose goal is to store as much video image data as possible on a medium such as an optical disk, 

as another example of needs for effective compression as of  July 5, 1989.  Col. 2, lns. 45-50. 

72. The Barnsley patent states that improved methods and apparatus for image data 

compression are required.  Col. 3, lns. 26-27. 
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73. The Barnsley patent teaches fractal compression/decompression as the improved 

methods and apparatus for image data compression. 

74. The Barnsley patent teaches, in substance, the fractal compression/decompression 

described at col. 4, lns. 20-21 in the ‘341 patent. 

75. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter recited in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent  to 

combine the aforementioned teachings of the Barnsley patent with either of the Walter patent or 

the Pocock patent according to known methods to yield predictable results. 

76. On information and belief, the only difference, if any, between the invention of 

claim 17 of the ‘341 patent and the prior art (i.e., the Walter patent, the Pocock patent and the 

Barnsley patent) is the lack of actual combination of the elements in a single prior art reference. 

77. On information and belief, one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 could have combined the 

elements as claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent by known methods, and, in combination, each 

element merely would have performed the same function as it did separately. 

78. On information and belief, one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 would have recognized that the 

results of the combination of either the Walter patent with the Barnsley patent and/or the Pocock 

patent with the Barnsley patent were predictable. 

79. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 to simply 
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substitute symmetrically compressed data with asymmetrically compressed data to obtain 

predictable results.   

80. On information and belief, the prior art Walter patent and Pocock patent 

contained a method which differed from the method claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent by 

the substitution of one step with another step (i.e., claim 17 requires decompressing a response 

using an asymmetric decompression technique, and the Walter patent and Pocock patent were 

silent on the manner in which the response was decompressed). 

81. On information and belief, the substituted components and their functions were 

known in the art through, for example, the Barnsley patent, which identified the need for 

effective compression in applications relating to the transmission of images and video, and 

taught asymmetric compression/decompression.    

82. On information and belief, one of ordinary skill in the art could have substituted 

the asymmetric compression/decompression taught in the Barnsley patent for the image 

compression/decompression used in the systems and methods of the Walter patent and/or Pocock 

patent, and the results of the substitution would have been predictable, in that, in each of 

Barnsley, Walter and Pocock, compressed image data is decompressed to restore the image data. 

83. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 to use the 

known fractal technique taught in the Barnsley patent to improve the system and method 

disclosed in either the Walter patent or the Pocock patent. 

84. On information and belief, the Walter patent and/or the Pocock patent contained a 

‘‘base’’ method upon which the invention claimed in claim 17 can be seen as an ‘improvement.’’ 
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85. On information and belief, the Barnsley patent contained a ‘‘comparable’’ method 

that was improved in the same way as the claimed invention of claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 

86. On information and belief, one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 could have applied the known 

‘‘improvement’’ technique (i.e., fractal compression/decompression) in the same way to the 

‘‘base’’ method of the Walter patent and/or Pocock patent and the results would have been 

predictable to one of ordinary skill in the art. 

87. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 to apply 

the known fractal technique taught in the Barnsley patent to the known system and method 

disclosed in either the Walter patent or the Pocock patent, which was ready for improvement to 

yield predictable results. 

88. On information and belief, the Walter patent and/or the Pocock patent contained a 

‘‘base’’ method upon which the claimed invention in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent can be seen as 

an ‘‘improvement.’’ 

89. On information and belief, the Barnsley patent contained a known technique that 

is applicable to the Walter patent and/or Pocock patent. 

90. On information and belief, one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 would have recognized that 

applying the known technique of the Barnsley patent to the Walter patent and/or Pocock patent 

would have yielded predictable results and resulted in an improved system. 



 

16 

91. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 to choose 

from either symmetrically or asymmetrically compressed data in the system and method 

disclosed in either the Walter patent or the Pocock patent, with a reasonable expectation of 

success. 

92. On information and belief, at the time of the invention of the subject matter 

claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 , there were numerous recognized problems or needs in the art, 

which included design needs and/or market pressures to solve problems.   

93. For example, the Barnsley patent identified several problems and needs in the art 

for effective compression techniques, including, inter alia, transmission of medical images by 

telephone, sending video data from computer to computer by telephone, video transmission with 

the goal of allowing consumers to access movies on demand, transmission of the additional 

image data required for High Definition Television (HDTV) via existing communication bands, 

and Digital Video Interaction (DVI) type applications, whose goal is to store as much video 

image data as possible on a medium such as an optical disk. 

94. On information and belief, at the time of the invention of the subject matter 

claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 there had been a finite number of identified, predictable potential 

solutions to the recognized needs or problems.  Specifically, image compression took two forms, 

namely symmetric and asymmetric, each of which were known to those of ordinary skill in the 

art at the time of the invention. 

95. On information and belief, one of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 could have pursued the known 
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potential solutions, namely symmetric and asymmetric compression/decompression, with a 

reasonable expectation of success.  

96. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 to use the 

known fractal technique taught in the Barnsley patent to the known system and method disclosed 

in either the Walter patent or the Pocock patent, based on the design incentive inherent in fractal 

compression (i.e., that compression takes longer than decompression). 

97. On information and belief, the Walter patent and/or the Pocock patent included a 

similar or analogous method to that claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 

98. On information and belief, at the time of the invention of the subject matter 

claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 there were design incentives and/or market forces which would 

have prompted adaptation of the Barnsley patent. 

99. For example, the Barnsley patent identified several design incentives and/or 

market forces for effective compression techniques, including, inter alia, transmission of medical 

images by telephone, sending video data from computer to computer by telephone, video 

transmission with the goal of allowing consumers to access movies on demand, transmission of 

the additional image data required for High Definition Television (HDTV) via existing 

communication bands, and Digital Video Interaction (DVI) type applications, whose goal is to 

store as much video image data as possible on a medium such as an optical disk 

100. On information and belief, the differences between the claimed invention of claim 

17 of the ‘341 patent and the Walter patent, the Pocock patent and the Barnsley patent were 
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encompassed in known variations or in principles known in the prior art at the time of the 

invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341. 

101. On information and belief, at the time of the invention of the subject matter 

claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341, one of ordinary skill in the art, in view of the identified design 

incentives and/or other market forces, could have implemented the claimed variation of the prior 

art (namely, the image compression/decompression of the Barnsley patent was recognized as 

being needed for image and video transmission and could have been used in the systems and 

methods of the Walter patent and/or the Pocock patent, thereby implementing the variation 

claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent), and the claimed variation in claim 17 of the ‘341 patent 

would have been predictable to one of ordinary skill in the art.  

102. On information and belief, it would have been obvious to one of ordinary skill in 

the art at the time of the invention of the subject matter claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341 to 

combine the known fractal technique taught in the Barnsley patent with the known system and 

method disclosed in either the Walter patent or the Pocock patent, given the teaching, suggestion 

or motivation in the ‘447 patent to use its compression/decompression technique in the transfer 

of compressed image and video data. 

103. On information and belief, at the time of the invention of the subject matter 

claimed in claim 17 of the ‘341, there was some teaching, suggestion, or motivation, in the 

Barnsley patent or in the knowledge generally available to one of ordinary skill in the art, to 

modify the method of the Walter patent and/or the Pocock patent to combine it with the 

teachings of the Barnsley patent. 

104. On information and belief, there was reasonable expectation of success, given that 

the manner the response in the Walter patent and/or the Pocock patent is compressed does not 
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impact the act of transmitting the response, but rather is only material to the ultimate act of 

decompression.  As taught by the Barnsley patent, asymmetric compression/decompression of 

data for applications such as the transmission of image data and video on demand would be 

expected to be successful. 

105. Orbitz has not infringed, directly or indirectly, either literally or under the 

doctrine of equivalents, claim 17 of the ‘341 patent. 

106. Orbitz is entitled to a declaratory judgment that it does not infringe claim 17 of 

the ‘341 patent. 

107. Claim 17 of the ‘341 patent is invalid under one or more sections of Title 35 of 

the U.S. Code, including, without limitation, 35 U.S.C. §§ 101, 102, 103 and/or 112. 

108. Orbitz is entitled to a declaratory judgment that claim 17 of the ‘341 patent is 

invalid and unenforceable, at least against Orbitz. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

 WHEREFORE, Orbitz prays for a judgment: 

 

 A. That the Amended Complaint filed by GPH be dismissed it its entirety with 
prejudice. 
 

B. That GPH is not entitled to the relief prayed for in its Amended Complaint or to 

any relief whatsoever. 

C. That U.S. Patent No. 5,253,341 has not been infringed by Orbitz or by any person 

using Orbitz’s website or services in this judicial district or anywhere in the United States. 

D. That claim 17 of U.S. Patent No. 5,253,341 is invalid. 
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E. That no damages or royalties are due or owing by Orbitz for any of the acts 

alleged by GPH in its Amended Complaint. 

F. That this case is an exceptional case and that Orbitz is awarded its costs 

(including expert fees), expenses, and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

G. That Orbitz is entitled to an award of its costs, expenses and attorney fees and 

such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ORBIT’S DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Orbitz hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

 
 
 
Dated:  December 14, 2007 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Michael A. Dorfman  
Timothy J. Vezeau 
Michael A. Dorfman 
Breighanne A. Eggert 
KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP 
525 West Monroe Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60661 
(312) 902-5200 
 
Attorneys for Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I, Michael A. Dorfman, an attorney, certify that I caused a copy of the foregoing 
ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.’S ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES, 
COUNTERCLAIM AND DEMAND FOR JURY to be served by electronic means via the 
CM/ECF system, this 14th day of December, 2007, upon: 

 
Robert G Abrams      abramsr@howrey.com  

Brian J. Arnold      barnold@bellboyd.com  

Gregory L Baker      bakerg@howrey.com  

Alan L. Barry      abarry@bellboyd.com, docket@bellboyd.com  

Brad Richard Bertoglio      brbertoglio@woodphillips.com  

Gianni L Cutri      gcutri@kirkland.com, lahlberg@kirkland.com  

Michael Adam Dorfman      Michael.Dorfman@kattenlaw.com, 
ecfdocket@kattenlaw.com, 
mary.picot@kattenlaw.com  

Breighanne Aileen Eggert      breighanne.eggert@kattenlaw.com, 
ecfdocket@kattenlaw.com  

Jason Alexander Engel      jengel@bellboyd.com, docket@bellboyd.com, 
mplascencia@bellboyd.com  

Alan M Fisch    afisch@kayescholer.com  

Harvey Freedenberg      hfreeden@mwn.com  

Arthur Anthony Gasey      gasey@nshn.com, brownao@aol.com, 
burke@nshn.com, kcoulas@nshn.com  

Paul Christopher Gibbons      gibbons@nshn.com  

Douglas M. Hall      dhall@nshn.com  

Colby Anne Kingsbury      ckingsbury@kirkland.com  

Shawn K Leppo      sleppo@mwn.com  

John Sheldon Letchinger      letchinger@wildmanharrold.com, ecf-
filings@wildmanharrold.com, 
wills@wildmanharrold.com  
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Dean A. Monco      damonco@woodphillips.com  

Raymond P. Niro      rniro@nshn.com  

Michael P. Padden      paddenm@howrey.com, doie@howrey.com, 
ferragamom@howrey.com, 
pulidon@howrey.com  

Jonathan F. Putnam      jputnam@kirkland.com  

Patricia Kane Schmidt      pschmidt@bellboyd.com  

Richard Allen Schnurr      richard.schnurr@icemiller.com  

William Patrick Smith      wsmith@mwn.com  

Timothy J. Vezeau      timothy.vezeau@kattenlaw.com  

Robert Loren Wagner       wagner@wildman.com, 
campos@wildman.com, ecf-
filings@wildman.com, gasper@wildman.com 

AND via U.S. Mail with postage prepaid to: 

Sheri J. Engelken  
Gonzaga University School of Law 
P.O. Box 3528 
721 North Cincinnati 
Spokane, WA 99220 
 

Michael K Lindsey  
Howrey, Simon , Arnold & White 
321 North Clark Street 
Suite 800 
Chicago, IL 60610 

William C. Rooklidge  
Howrey LLP 
2020 Main Street 
Suite 1000 
Irvine, CA 92614 
 

Jon David Shutter  
Howrey, Simon , Arnold & White 
321 North Clark Street 
Suite 800 
Chicago, IL 60610 

Christian Chadd Taylor  
Kirkland & Ellis LLP (Chicago) 
200 East Randolph Drive 
Suite 6100 
Chicago, IL 60601 

 

 

       /s/ Michael A. Dorfman________________ 


